IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEARS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-01624

MATT BROWN AND WIFE, HOLLI BROWN

APPELLANTS

VS.

RP AUTO LLC AND RANDY WAYNE PARKS

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS MATT BROWN AND WIFE, HOLLI BROWN

RONALD D. MICHAEL, P.A.
Ronald D. Michael, MSB No.
Seth W. Pounds, MSB No.
1700 North Second Street
Booneville, MS 38829
662-728-6276
Counsel for Appellants, Matt Brown and Holli Brown

RP AUTO LLC and RANDY WAYNE PARKS 1027 West Bankhead Street New Albany, MS 38652

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEARS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-01624

MATT BROWN AND WIFE, HOLLI BROWN

APPELLANTS

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT MADE FIVE INCORRECT FINDINGS OF FACT, WHICH HAD BEEN RELIED UPON IN REACHING ITS CONCLUSIONS

- (a) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' EXPERT, BENNY CARTER, TESTIFIED THAT A RATTLING CAM PHASER WAS A NORMAL THING EVEN THOUGH VEHICLES CHANGE EVERY THREE MONTHS
- (b) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT CONFIRMED THAT HIS WORK WAS DONE PROPERLY WITH ANOTHER MECHANIC
- (c) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT LONG-LEWIS FORD INFORMED THE PLAINTIFFS THAT THE VEHICLE WAS "READY"
- (d) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BENNY CARTER STATED A NEW WIRING HARNESS COULD NOT BE INSTALLED AND GAVE NO REASONABLE EXPLANATION WHY IT WOULD BE IMPOSSIBLE
- (e) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT, RANDY WAYNE PARKS, WAS A MASTER MECHANIC

ISSUE #2:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO PROPER PROOF OF THE VEHICLE'S VALUE WAS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

ISSUE #3:

WHETHER THE SUFFICIENCY AND WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE ARE CONTRARY TO THE JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Matt and Holli Brown brought suit against RP Auto LLC and Randy Wayne Parks for damages arising out of negligent repair. The Trial Court, sitting without a jury, entered a judgment in favor of the Defendants, finding that the Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Matt and Holli Brown were experiencing problems with their 2006 Ford Expedition. [T.12]. Matt Brown took the vehicle to Long Lewis Ford in Corinth, Mississippi. [T.12]. Long Lewis told Brown that the cam phasers in the vehicle needed to be replaced and quoted him an estimate of One Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty (\$1,750.00) Dollars. [T.18]. Brown also consulted Randy Parks, (RP Auto LLC), about repairing his vehicle. [T.13-14]. Parks told Brown that he could replace the cam phaser for less money than Long Lewis. [T.14]. Based on a later estimate, Brown decided to have Parks repair his vehicle. [T.14].

Approximately one week later, Parks called Brown and told him that his vehicle was ready to be picked up. [T.15]. Brown paid Parks One Thousand Two Hundred (\$1,200.00) Dollars for the work Parks said he would do; which also included some additional parts Parks said were needed. [T.34].

Brown traveled in the vehicle to Louisiana and during the return trip the vehicle began to clatter and shake. [T.16-17]. Brown took the vehicle back to Parks and told him what was now happening. [T.18]. Parks had the vehicle approximately two weeks and during that time he attempted to repair the vehicle. [T.18-19]. At one point during the two week period, Parks called Brown and told him that he did not know what was going on with the vehicle. [T.35]. Eventually, Parks called Brown again and informed him that he had fixed the vehicle. [T.19].

Brown picked up his vehicle from Parks in New Albany, Mississippi. [T.19]. Before he arrived at home in Ripley, Mississippi, the vehicle started shaking again. [T.19]. This is the same problem Brown experienced coming back from Louisiana. [T.19]. Before taking his vehicle to Parks the first time, Brown was only aware of a clicking sound coming from the vehicle. [T.12]. After

Parks worked on the vehicle, Brown started experiencing a clatter and shaking. [T.16-17,19].

The day after picking up his vehicle from Parks, Brown called Parks and told him that his vehicle was doing the same thing. [T.20]. Parks told Brown that he did not know what was going on with it. [T.20,50]. Brown decided to take the vehicle back to Long Lewis Ford in Corinth, Mississippi. [T.20].

After looking at the vehicle, Benny Carter, a master mechanic at Long Lewis Ford, noticed that the vehicle did have more problems than it did when Brown originally brought the vehicle to Long Lewis. [T.49]. Carter told Brown that whomever had attempted to repair the cam phaser had crossed and cut electrical wires. [T.52]. Carter said that the damage was the worse that he had ever seen and that someone had created these problems based on a lack of training, guess work, and desperation. [T.54-55,58].

Carter also told Brown that based on what he could see, he (Brown) may have to end up replacing the entire engine and gave him an estimate of Eight Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-six Dollars and Ten Cents (\$8,556.10). [T.51]. Ultimately, Long Lewis repaired the damage which they could see as opposed to replacing every engine component which resulted in a charge to Brown of approximately Three Thousand One Hundred (\$3,100.00) Dollars. [T.51]. Unfortunately, Long Lewis' repair did not fix all the damage done by Parks. [T.56-59]. Carter said that because of the amount of damage and complex wiring in the vehicle, that it was not surprising, in the end, that Long Lewis was not able to repair the vehicle. [T.56-59]. Carter told Brown that, in the end, he would have to pay approximately Eight Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-six Dollars (\$8,556.00) Dollars to repair the damage created by Parks. [T.62].

As a result of the damage caused by Parks' negligent repair, Brown's vehicle depreciated

greatly in value. [T.62].

Matt and Holli Brown instituted this action because of the damages caused by Randy Wayne Parks and RP Auto LLC.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case comes before this Honorable Court on appeal from the Circuit Court of Union County, Mississippi, concerning the judgment in favor of the Defendants, RP Auto LLC and Randy Wayne Parks.

The Trial Court, sitting in a bench trial, made several incorrect findings of fact, that it then relied upon in reaching its conclusion, which were not supported by the substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence.

The Trial Court erred in concluding that no proper proof of the vehicle's value was adduced at trial. The Plaintiff, Matt Brown, along with Benny Carter, testified as to the value of the vehicle, both before and after the damage caused by the Defendant, Randy Wayne Parks. Brown's testimony was corroborated by an accurate and appropriate estimation tool in which the Trial Court took judicial notice.

The Trial Court erred by concluding that the proof adduced during trial failed to prove by preponderance of the evidence that the Defendants, Randy Wayne Parks and RP Auto LLC, were the cause of the vehicle's problems. Plaintiffs' expert, Benny Carter, testified that the Defendants, Randy Wayne Parks and RP Auto LLC, did in fact proximately cause the damage to the vehicle which is the subject of this cause of action.

4

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: THE TRIAL COURT MADE FIVE INCORRECT FINDINGS OF FACT NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, WHICH IT THEN RELIED UPON IN REACHING ITS CONCLUSION

(a) Contrary to the Trial Court, Plaintiffs' expert, Benny Carter, never testified that a rattling cam phaser was a normal thing on the Ford engine, even though vehicles change every three months. [Opinion and Order, P.122]. Carter did testify that a knocking cam phaser was normal on a Ford and that for a trained mechanic it is not difficult at all to replace them. [T.39-50]. Carter also testified that as a master mechanic, Ford requires him to continually update his training because vehicles, in general, change every three months. [T.36-38].

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

(b) Contrary to the Trial Court, the record fails to properly reflect any testimony that the Defendant, Parks, confirmed that his work was properly done. [Opinion and Order, P. 2]. No witness for the Plaintiffs ever testified that the Defendants' work was properly done. [T.82]. Therefore, because the Defendant did not introduce any testimony, the record fails to reflect any evidentiary basis for the Trial Court's findings. [T.82].

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its

5

findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

(c) Contrary to the Trial Court, Long Lewis Ford never informed the Plaintiff (Brown) that the vehicle was "ready." [Opinion and Order, P.2]. Benny Carter, a master mechanic at Long Lewis, told the Plaintiff that Long Lewis had repaired the damage they could see. [T.56-57]. Carter testified that even though he repaired the shorted wires, the wires nevertheless were still shorted. [T.56]. Carter also testified that with 180 miles worth of wiring, the short in the wires could be anywhere. [T.57].

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

(d) Contrary to the Trial Court, Benny Carter did give a reasonable explanation as to why installing a new wiring harness on the existing engine would not be advisable. [Opinion and Order, P.3].

6

In response to a question from the Trial Court, Carter, an expert witness and master mechanic, testified that installing a new wiring harness would not fix the existing engine problem. [T.80]. Carter gave the Plaintiffs an estimate of what it would cost to replace the engine and wiring harness, a worse case scenario. [T.51]. However, in an attempt to mitigate the damage created by Parks, Long Lewis attempted to repair the engine and the wiring problems they could see. [T.51, 56-57]. In the end, the damage done to the vehicle was what Carter called a worse case scenario. [T.51]. Therefore, Carter's explanation as to why only replacing the wiring harness on the existing engine would not fix the existing engine, was reasonable. At that point, Carter believed that based on the amount of damage the only way to repair the vehicle would be to replace the entire engine and wiring harness. [T.51].

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

(e) The Trial Court erred in finding that the Defendant, Randy Wayne Parks, was a master mechanic. [T.2]. As previously mentioned, Parks failed to introduce any sworn testimony in this case. [T.83]. The only reference to Parks being a master mechanic technician came from Parks' cross-examination of Plaintiffs' expert, Benny Carter. [T.65-66]. The Plaintiffs contemporaneously objected to Parks attempting to put on any testimony, which the Trial Court sustained. [T.65-66].

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

ISSUE NO. 2: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO PROPER PROOF OF THE VEHICLE'S VALUE WAS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

The Trial Court erred in finding that no proper proof of the vehicle's value, either before or after repairs, was adduced at trial. [Opinion and Order, P.3]. This finding was contrary to the testimony provided by Matt Brown. [T.24-26]. Brown testified that his 2006 Ford Expedition would have been worth about Eighteen Thousand (\$18.000.00) Dollars at the time he took his vehicle to Parks. ¹ [T.24-26]. In addition, Brown's testimony was validated by Kelly Blue Books' value which the Trial Court took judicial notice of. ² [T.24-26].

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has indicated that Kelly Blue Book is an appropriate tool in ascertaining the value of a vehicle. *Voyle v. Voyle*, 2008-CT-01927-COA, August 17, 2010 @¶ 20.

""A Circuit Judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to its findings as a Chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial,

8

¹Benny Carter, a master mechanic and expert witness, also testified that even if Brown's vehicle was completely repaired, the vehicle's value would be severely depreciated. He testified that CarFax would report the vehicle as having mechanical problems, or poor condition.. [T.62-63].

²The Trial Court also received into evidence Plaintiffs' Exhibit 7.

credible, and reasonable evidence." City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (quoting Puckett v. Stuckey, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, the Trial Court's above finding of fact is clearly not supported by substantial, credible, or reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon this incorrect finding, along with several others, in reaching its judgment for the Defendants.

ISSUE NO. 3: THE SUFFICIENCY AND WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE ARE CONTRARY TO THE JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT

The Trial Court erred in finding for the Defendant, and, in denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial. [R.25-28].

The Trial Court held that the Plaintiffs failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant was negligent in his repair or attempt to repair Brown's vehicle. [Opinion and Order, P.4].

The Trial Court's findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *Mason v. State*, 799 So.2d 884, 885 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

The only evidence presented at trial showed that; Brown's vehicle only needed its cam phasers replaced when Parks began his repair; Parks caused Brown's vehicle additional damage in his negligent attempt to repair said vehicle; and as a result, the Browns have incurred damages.

Brown, as well as expert witness and master mechanic, Benny Carter, testified that the only problem Brown was initially experiencing with the vehicle was a result of a defective cam phaser.

³ [T.12-14, 46, 49].

³Contrary to the Trial Court, the record fails to reflect any evidentiary basis that Long Lewis mis-diagnosed the initial problem with the vehicle.

Brown testified that he took his vehicle to Parks and that Parks indicated that he could fix the cam phasers. [T.14]. After a week, Parks called Brown and told him that he had his vehicle fixed. ⁴ [T.15]. Brown picked up his vehicle and drove it to Louisiana. [T.15-16]. When Brown returned, the vehicle started knocking. [T.16-17]. Brown took his vehicle back to Parks where Parks kept it for approximately three weeks. [T.18]. At some point during that three weeks, Parks informed Brown that he did not know what was going on with the vehicle and that he had even tried to get someone else to help him repair it. [T.18,35,36]. Eventually, Parks called Brown to inform him that he had fixed his vehicle. [T.19,36]. On Brown's way home from picking up the vehicle, the vehicle started knocking; the same way it had when Brown was returning from Louisiana. [T.36]. Brown called Parks to inform him that the vehicle was still experiencing problems and Parks said that he should take it back to Long Lewis because he (Parks) could not figure out what was going on with it. [T.36].

Once at Long Lewis, master mechanic, Benny Carter, testified; that the damage done to Brown's vehicle was the worse that he had ever seen; [T.56], that it looked like someone had butchered the vehicle's engine; [T.73], that there were numerous wires that had been cut and crushed by someone; [T.52,76], that the cutting and crushing of these wires was the result of someone, who for lack of training, created this damage as a result of guess work and desperation. [T.52-59].

Based on the amount of damage, Long Lewis gave Brown two quotes of what it could take to repair his vehicle. [T.51]. The first quote Long Lewis gave Brown was the worse case scenario; (Eight Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-six (\$8,556.00) Dollars. [T.51, Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 3]. The second quote Long Lewis gave Brown was a quote to attempt to repair the damage that Long Lewis

⁴At this time, Brown paid Parks One Thousand Two Hundred (\$1200.00) Dollars.

could actually see. ⁵ [T.51, Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 2].

In an attempt to mitigate the damage or cost, Brown had Long Lewis try and repair the amount of damage that was done. [T.51,57]. Once Long Lewis had finished repairing what they could find, Brown was called to come pick up his vehicle. [T.22]. Brown was able to crank the vehicle but it soon shut down again. [T.22]. Long Lewis fixed the mechanical damage but because of the amount of the electrical damage, Long Lewis was not able to repair the vehicle without replacing the entire engine and all of the wiring harnesses. [T.59,57,79-80]. Carter testified that at that point, it would cost Brown about Eight Thousand Five Hundred (\$8,500.00) Dollars to repair the vehicle; all engine components would need to be replaced. [T.61].

As previously mentioned, the Trial Court's findings of fact are clearly not supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. Ultimately, the Trial Court relied upon its findings in reaching its conclusion and judgment.

In the case at bar, the record fails to reflect any evidentiary basis to support the Trial Court's judgment in favor of the Defendant and, therefore, this Court should reverse the Trial Court's denial of said Motion and render a judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs, or alternatively, to grant a new trial.

Mason v. State, 799 So.2d 284 (2001).

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiffs' provided sufficient proof that the Defendant (Parks) had a duty to repair the Plaintiffs' vehicle and not to cause further damage and that the Defendant breached that duty which approximately resulted in the Plaintiffs sustaining a great amount of damage. [T.83-88].

⁵The repair bill was Three Thousand One Hundred Forty-one Dollars and Thirty Cents (\$3,141.30). There is also a rental car cost of Seven Hundred Eighteen Dollars and Thirty Cents (\$718.30).

CORRECTED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Seth W. Pounds, do hereby certify that I did on the 14th day of March, 2011, mailed, by first class mail, postage prepaid, a true and correct copy of the Appellants' Brief to the following:

RP Auto LLC and Randy Wayne Parks 1027 West Bankhead Street New Albany, MS 38652

Honorable Henry L. Lackey Circuit Court Judge P. O. Drawer T Calhoun City, MS 38916