IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010-CA-01624-COA

MAY 2 6 2011

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Court
Court of Appeals

MATT BROWN & HOLLI BROWN

APPELLANTS

VS.

RP AUTO LLC & RANDY WAYNE PARKS

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

RP AUTO, LLC AND RANDY WAYNE PARKS

REGAN S. RUSSELL Post Office Box 909

New Albany, Mississippi 38652

Tel: (662) 534-6333 Fax: (662) 534-6335 MS State Bar N

ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR APPELLEES

ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MATT BROWN & HOLLI BROWN

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-01624-COA

RP AUTO LLC & RANDY WAYNE PARKS

APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Plaintiffs and Appellants, Matt and Holly Brown, first noticed a problem with their 2006 Ford Expedition when they heard a "ticking" sound, so he took the vehicle to Long Lewis Ford in Corinth, Mississippi to be examined. [T. 12]. Long Lewis Ford diagnosed a problem with the cam-phasers and gave a repair estimate of \$1,750. [T. 13]. Mr. Brown ultimately hired Defendant Randy Brown, of RP Auto, LLC, also a Defendant, to repair the problem diagnosed by Long Lewis Ford for \$1,200. [T. 15].

Matt Brown later picked-up the car, and the problem seemed to be fixed. [T. 16].

After driving approximately three hundred (300) miles to Louisiana and then attempting to return home on the same day that the car was picked-up from RP Auto, the vehicle started "clattering and shaking", a problem that "was totally new". [T. 17]. The car was returned to RP Auto and left for about three (3) weeks. When it was picked-up, the "clattering and shaking" problem started again before he could get back home to Ripley. [T. 19]. Mr. Brown was presented with a bill for \$1,496.85, but refused to pay more than the \$1,200 originally agreed to. [T. 33]. The vehicle was then taken to Long Lewis Ford, which kept the vehicle another two weeks and charged \$3,161.30 for repairs and \$1,693.30 for car rental fees. [T. 20-22]. When Mr. Brown picked-up the vehicle, the car "shut down again" when he attempted to leave Long Lewis Ford. [T. 22]. Long Lewis Ford stated that they had fixed the mechanical problems, "but there's something more going on to it." [T. 23]. They then gave an estimate for \$8,556.02 for replacement of the engine. [T. 26., Exhibit P-3].

Mr. Brown testified that the car was worth about \$18,000 at the time it was taken to RP Auto. [T. 24] He relied upon two (2) Kelley Blue Book estimates, one for a 2006 Ford

Expedition in good condition at \$15,800 and the second for a 2007 Ford Expedition in good condition at \$18,150. [Exhibits 4, 5]. There was no testimony or proof as to the effect upon the value of the vehicle of replacing the engine with a new engine or of the ultimate value of the vehicle if no such repairs were performed.

Instead of repairing the vehicle, Mr. Brown decided to get another vehicle and worked out a deal with Long Lewis Ford and the bank where the car was financed so that the vehicle went back to the bank. [T. 39]. There was no proof as to any valuation of the vehicle at that time by the bank or to any subsequent sale price of the vehicle.

Benny Carter, a master mechanic at Long Lewis Ford, testified as an expert witness that the car came back to Long Lewis Ford with other problems than it originally had when the cam-phaser problem was diagnosed. [T. 49]. These problems included cut electrical wires, leaking oil from the VCT solenoid valve covers and warped valves. [T. 52]. For these problems a "worst case scenario" estimate was prepared. He identified Exhibit 3 as this estimate. [T. 51]. Mr. Brown instead paid for the repairs evidenced by Exhibit 2. [T. 51]. These repairs did not fix the damage to the vehicle. [T. 56-59]. He later testified that to fix the vehicle the repairs stated in Exhibit 3 would have to be done, but he was unable to testify to the effect this would have on the value of the vehicle. [T. 62].

On cross examination, Mr. Carter admitted that vehicles can and sometimes do develop new problems after repairs are done on something other than the part being repaired. [T. 75-76]. During a second cross following questioning by the trial judge, he additionally testified that "playing with the wires" or "dealing with the timing" are not a part of changing cam-phasers. [T. 80].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Mississippi law, in the absence of a finding of a lack of substantial, credible evidence or of a manifestly erroneous decision by the Trial Court, the judgment below must be upheld.

Appellants list five (5) rather mundane and unimpressive allegedly erroneous factual findings which they contend amount to "substantial evidence" of such character so as to invalidate the reasonableness of the Trial Court's ruling that the Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proof of negligence, causation and reasonably certain damages.

These alleged erroneous factual findings are as follows: (1) that Benny Carter, an expert witness, testified that a rattling cam-phaser is a normal thing; (2) that the defendant confirmed that his work was done properly with another mechanic; (3) that Long Lewis Ford informed the Browns that the vehicle was "ready"; (4) that Benny Carter testified that a new wiring harness could not be installed but gave no reasonable explanation why it was impossible; and (5) that the Defendant was a Master-Mechanic.

The first allegation misconstrues the findings of fact. When read in context with the entirety of the Opinion and Order, the term "common event" references the replacement of the Cam Phasers as being common, not a "rattling Cam Phaser". The second and fifth allegations apparently relate to references in the Opinion and Order to statements in questions by Defendant Randy Parks, who appeared *pro se* and may therefore have been given abnormal latitude in his presentation of evidence to the Court. Even if the Appellants are correct that these items of proof are not technically in evidence, nothing in the Court's "Conclusions" in its Opinion and Order referenced these findings as determinative. Thus the errors, if any, are harmless. The

third allegation references the word "ready" in the Opinion and Order", referencing a vehicle being ready following repairs, which actual word may not have appeared in the testimony, but which nevertheless accurately represents the gist of the testimony. The fourth allegation involves a judgment call as to whether the testimony was a "reasonable explanation" or not. Appellants contend that it was. The Trial Judge clearly deemed the explanation to be inadequate. Appellees agree with the Trial Judge, but further suggest that the factual point in contention is largely an non-determinative issue based upon the Trial Judge's more compelling findings that the proof of causation and certainty of damages are inadequate.

In summary, none of these allegations as to error, even if taken as true, are a basis for a finding of "manifest error" by the Court. Rather, the clear deficiencies in the proof presented by the Plaintiffs as to causation and certain and accurate proof of the amount of damages are such that the Court's ruling is the only reasonable determination that could have made upon the evidence presented.

IV

ARGUMENT

A.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"'A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor,' and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." Wilson v. Greyhound Bus Lines, Inc., 830 So.2d 1151, 1155 ¶9 (Miss. 2002) (quoting Illinois Cen. R.R. v. Travis, 808 So.2d 928, 931 (Miss. 2002)). See also City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373 (2000). "The Court will not

disturb those findings unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Wilson v. Greyhound Bus Lines, Inc.*, 830 So.2d 1151, 1155 ¶9 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *Bell v. City of Bay St. Louis*, 467 So.2d 651, 661 (Miss. 1985)).

Thus, in the absence of a finding of a lack of substantial, credible evidence or a manifestly erroneous decision by the Trial Court, the judgment below must be upheld.

B.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT MADE FIVE FINDINGS OF FACT

In their brief, Appellants allege five incorrect findings of fact: (1) that Benny Carter, an expert witness, testified that a rattling cam-phaser is a normal thing; (2) that the defendant confirmed that his work was done properly with another mechanic; (3) that Long Lewis Ford informed the Browns that the vehicle was "ready"; (4) that Benny Carter testified that a new wiring harness could not be installed but gave no reasonable explanation why it was impossible; and (5) that the Defendant was a Master-Mechanic.

The first allegation misconstrues the findings of fact. In his Opinion and Order the Trial Judge stated that "the cause of the rattle was the Cam Phasers and they needed to be replaced. Long-Lewis gave Plaintiff's an estimate of \$1,750.00 to replace the defective parts. Apparently this is a common event...." [Opinion and Order, R. 16]. Clearly the term "common event" references the replacement of the Cam Phasers. The point is mundane as this finding was marginally material at best, but the allegation of error in incorrect.

Regarding the second allegation of error, in his Opinion and Order the Trial Judge stated that "Defendants had a mechanic from the Ford dealership in New Albany inspect Defendants work who confirmed Defendants work was properly done. [Opinion and Order, R. 17]. This

statement may reference a question by the Defendant, but as the Defendant did not call any witnesses, technically the Appellants are correct that this proof is not in evidence.

Nevertheless, nothing in the Court's "Conclusions" in its Opinion and Order referenced this finding as determinative. Thus the error, if any, is harmless.

The third allegation of error is that Long Lewis Ford informed the Browns that the vehicle was "ready". While the transcript may not include the actual word "ready," semantically the Judge's finding was correct. Mr. Brown testified that the car was taken to Long Lewis Ford for repairs and that Long Lewis performed repairs taking a couple of weeks. [T. 20]. He then paid them \$4,859.60 for repairs and a rental car and went to pick-up the vehicle, at which time as they "were leaving Long Lewis Ford and the thing shut down again". [T. 22]. Thus, semantically the word "ready" appears to be correct, if not a direct quote from the transcript.

The fourth allegation is that the Opinion and Order incorrectly states that Appellant's expert witness failed to explain why a new wire harness costing \$282.72 could not be installed on the existing engine, thereby avoiding the "worst case scenario" estimate of \$8,556.02 for the replacement of the engine. [Opinion and Order, R. 18]. Appellants generally allege in their brief that the witness did testify that "installing a new wire harness would not fix the existing engine problem." [Brief of Appellants, 7; T. 80]. More specifically, the expert testified as follows:

"By the Court: Could you have, not you, or anyone, have installed another wire harness and would that have -- you think that would have fixed the problem?

A: Well, not the engine problem, no. It was multiple problems. You just about would have had to replace the whole -- every single harness on that vehicle because the ones at

the PCM was going to the body harness too and that's why I didn't understand, you know -- you know, I don't know who done it." [T. 79-80].

Appellants argument is incorrect for the following reason, the Court referenced a lack of "a reasonable explanation" as to why a wire harness could not be repaired. [Opinion and Order, R. 18]. It did not say there was no explanation. This was the very type of judgment call for which trial judges are afforded great deference. It is not the job of the appellate courts to review each such judgment call *de novo*, but only for "manifest error" or lack of substantial, reasonable evidence. *Bell*, 467 So.2d 651 at 661; *Travis*, 808 So.2d 928 at 931. Thus, the Appellants allegation is without merit. Nevertheless, it is perhaps more telling that the witness testified that "I don't know who done it." [T. 79-80]. This testimony goes specifically to the more compelling finding in the Opinion and Order that as to "who or what caused the problem with Plaintiff's vehicle....under the proof adduced the Court can reach no conclusion." [Opinion and Order, R. 18, 19].

The fifth allegation, like the second, apparently relates to a reference in the Opinion and Order to a statement in a question by Defendant Randy Parks, who appeared *pro se* and may therefore have been given abnormal latitude in his presentation of evidence to the Court. [T. 65, lines 25-27]. Again, the Appellants are correct that this proof is not technically in evidence. Nevertheless, nothing in the Court's "Conclusions" in its Opinion and Order referenced this finding as determinative. Thus the error, if any, is harmless.

C.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING INSUFFICIENT PROOF OF DAMAGES

The Opinion and Order stated as follows: "The vehicle was repossessed by the lien

holder and its present condition is unknown to the Court and no proper proof of its value, either before repairs or after repairs, was adduced, relying on a document said to be gleaned from the internet." [Opinion and Order, R. 18]. Appellants argue that the proof presented during the testimony of Matt Brown [T. 24-26], specifically the Kelly Blue Book estimates introduced as Exhibits 4 and 5, met the burden for such proof.

These estimates addressed only proof of value of the vehicle before the repairs. The Trial Judge found them inadequate as proof of value, even value before the repairs. More compelling is the fact that neither document provided any basis for a determination of proof after the repairs. The only proof adduced as to the value of the vehicle after the repairs performed by the Defendant was the expert testimony of the plaintiffs' witness. For these problems a "worst case scenario" estimate was prepared of \$8,556.02. Benny Carter of Long Lewis Ford identified Exhibit 3 as this estimate. [T. 51]. Mr. Brown instead paid for the repairs evidenced by Exhibit 2. [T. 51]. These repairs did not fix the damage to the vehicle as the vehicle broke-down immediately when Mr. Brown tried to leave Long Lewis Ford in the vehicle. [T. 56-59]. Mr. Carter testified that to fix the vehicle the repairs stated in Exhibit 3 would have to be done, but, crucial to the Court's ruling, he clearly and unequivocally stated that he was unable to testify to the effect this would have on the value of the vehicle. [T. 62].

Mississippi law places the burden on plaintiffs to prove damages "with as much certainty and accuracy as was reasonably possible". *Purina Mills, Inc. v. Moak*, 575 So.2d 993 (Miss. 1990) (citing *Mutual Life Ins. Co. of New York v. Estate of Wesson*, 517 So.2d 521 536 (Miss. 1987)). Given the complete lack of proof as to value of the vehicle after repairs, the Plaintiffs in the case *sub judice* have clearly failed to do so.

As the burden is upon the plaintiffs to prove damages, the ruling of the Trial Court as to

lack of proper proof of damages is not only defensible, it is the only reasonable determination that he could have made upon the evidence presented.

D.

THE SUFFICIENCY AND WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In the "Conclusions" of its Opinion and Order, the Court particularly stated that he was unable to reach a conclusion as to whether the Defendant was "the cause of the problem". The Court further, in the paragraph immediately before the sections titled "Conclusions", stated that "the present condition of the vehicle is unknown to the Court and no proper proof of its value, either before the repairs or after repairs, was adduced." [Opinion and Order, R. 18].

Appellants list five (5) rather mundane and unimpressive alleged erroneous factual findings which they contend amount to "substantial evidence" of such character so as to invalidate the reasonableness of a ruling that the Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proof of negligence, causation and reasonably certain damages. None of these allegations as to error, even if taken as true, are a basis for a finding of "manifest error" by the Court. Rather, the clear deficiencies in the proof presented by the Plaintiffs as to causation as well as to certain and accurate proof of the amount of damages are such that the Court's ruling is the only reasonable determination that could have made upon the evidence presented.

E.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, it is clear that the Trial Court had substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence upon which to base its opinion and that the Trial Court's opinion is not manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. The decision of the Trial Court should therefore be upheld.